MARTHA LOTT

CLAIMANT/APPELLANT

v.

HUDSPETH CENTER

EMPLOYER/APPELLEE

&

MISSISSIPPI STATE AGENCIES WORKERS' COMPENSATION TRUST CARRIER/APPELLEE

OPENING BRIEF OF CLAIMANT/APPELLANT MARTHA LOTT

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE MONTGOMERY COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

William B. Ryan (Miss. Bar No. DONATI LAW FIRM, LLP 1545 Union Avenue Memphis, TN 38104 901/278-1004 (phone) 901/278-3111 (fax) billy@donatilawfirm.com

2007 - WC - 1525

MARTHA LOTT

CLAIMANT/APPELLANT

v.

HUDSPETH CENTER

&

MISSISSIPPI STATE AGENCIES WORKERS' COMPENSATION TRUST

EMPLOYER/APPELLEE

CARRIER/APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the Montgomery County Circuit Court erred in affirming the MWCC's decision that Ms. Lott was only entitled to disability benefits equivalent to 100% loss to the arm, as opposed to permanent total disability benefits, where it was established that Ms. Lott (age 61) was unable to find work following her shoulder injury despite 194 documented job search efforts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A hearing was held before the Administrative Judge Melba Dixon on July 6, 2005 to determine the extent of Ms. Lott's permanent disability. (Vol. 2, 25). On August 17, 2005, Judge Dixon issued her decision determining that Ms. Lott was permanently and totally disabled under Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-17(a). (Vol. 2, at 25-34).

Following Judge Dixon's decision, the Employer/Carrier appealed the decision to the full Commission. (Vo. 2, at 35). The Commission heard oral argument on January 30, 2006 and issued its Order on June 29, 2006. (Vol. 2, at 48-53). The Commission reversed Judge Dixon's finding that Ms. Lott was not permanently and totally disabled. Instead, the Commission held that Ms. Lott had only suffered a 100% loss of use of her right arm. <u>Id.</u>

.

On or about August 31, 2007, the Circuit Court of Montgomery County affirmed the decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Martha Lott: Background, Age, Education, & Work Experience

1. Martha Jo Lott was born on January 28, 1944 making her 61 years old at

the time of the hearing. (Vol. 3, at 6). She resides in Kilmichael, Montgomery County, Mississippi. (Vol. 3, at 5).

2. Ms. Lott graduated from Kilmichael High School in 1962. (Vol. 3, at 6).

3. After high school, Ms. Lott worked for Baldwin Piano Company from 1962 to 1965 assembling piano music desks. (Vol. 3, at 7). This job was labor intensive and involved lifting 20lbs repetitively with occasional lifting of 50lbs. (Vol. 3, at 7-9). The job paid \$1.25 per hour. (Vol. 3, at 11-12).

4. Ms. Lott next worked for McGregor, which operated a shirt factory in Winona. (Vol. 3, at 9). The company is no longer in business. (Vol. 3, at 9). Ms. Lott worked on and off from 1967 to 1971 as an "Inspector". (Vol. 3, at 9-10). Ms. Lott pressed, folded, and packed shirts on a repetitive basis and she had to be able to lift 25lbs and had to do overhead work stacking boxes. (Vol. 3, at 10). The job paid \$1.50 per hour. (Vol. 3, at 12).

5. Ms. Lott then got a job as a teacher's assistant with the Montgomery County School System. (Vol. 3, at 10). She worked with remedial students teaching reading and math skills. (Vol. 3, at 10-11). Ms. Lott worked for the Montgomery County School System from 1973 to 1989. (Vol. 3, at 11). The physical demands of this job involved lifting books, moving TVs, and computers. (Vol. 3, at 11). This job paid \$600.00 per month before taxes. (Vol. 3, at 11).

Ms. Lott next worked as a dorm mother at Wood Junior College in
 Mathiston, Mississippi. (Vol. 3, at 11-2). Ms. Lott held this job for 9 months. (Vol. 3, at 12). She supervised young men in a home-type atmosphere; cleaned dorm rooms; and picked up mail. (Vol. 3, at 12). Ms. Lott was paid \$7,000.00 per year at Wood Jr. College, which is no longer in existence. (Vol. 3, at 12).

į.

ì.

7. After Wood Jr. College, Ms. Lott came back to Kilmichael and attempted to return to her old job with the Montgomery County School System, but the school system was not hiring. (Vol. 3, at 13). Fortunately, she found a job as a nurse's aide at Kilmichael Hospital. (Vol. 3, at 13). This job required her to lift patients, clean rooms, and change beds. (Vol. 3, at 13). Ms. Lott only worked for the hospital for 6 weeks before she was laid off because of the hospital's financial condition. (Vol. 3, at 13).

8. Ms. Lott then went to work for a factory called B & L, which was located in Kilmichael. (Vol. 3, at 14). She worked as an inspector making and handling children's pants. (Vol. 3, at 14). This job was heavier than the job she previously worked at the McGregor factory. (Tr. 15). She had to lift heavy bundles of pants on a repetitive basis. (Vol. 3, at 14). Ms. Lott worked at B & L for a year before it went out of business. (Vol. 3, at 14).

9. Ms. Lott then started working for Steel Apparel where she made dress uniforms and pants and skirts. (Vol. 3, at 14-15). She primarily operated a sewing machine. (Vol. 3, at 15). This was repetitive work with her arms and she was required to lift boxes that weighed 25-30lbs on a frequent basis. (Vol. 3, at 16). Ms. Lott worked for Steel Apparel from September 1991 to January 2001, at which time the company closed and moved to Mexico. (Vol. 3, at 16).

i

ι.

ι.

i

10. Ms. Lott then went to work for North Central Planning and Development in Winona, Mississippi as a library assistant. (Vol. 3, at 16). This job was a part-time position. (Vol. 3, at 16-17). She assisted library patrons with their needs and cleaned the library and handled books. (Vol. 3, at 16-17). Ms. Lott was required to lift 20lbs on this job. (Vol. 3, at 17). Ms. Lott performed this job from March 2002 until March 2003. (Vol. 3, at 17).

B. Ms. Lott's Job At Kilmichael Group Home

11. Ms. Lott left her part-time job with North Central Planning and Development to take a full-time position with the Hudspeth Center, an arm of the State of Mississippi. (Vol. 3, at 17). Specifically, Ms. Lott worked at Kilmichael Group Home in Kilmichael, Mississippi caring for mentally retarded adults. (Vol. 3, at 17-18). She was hired on April 1, 2003 and was paid \$7.00 per hour. (Vol. 3, at 18). Ms. Lott's average weekly wage at the time of her injury was \$296.03. (Vol. 3, at 3). Ms. Lott's job title was Direct Care Worker and her primary job duties included assisting mentally retarded adults with every day needs such as cooking and cleaning and grooming. (Vol. 3, at 18). She would also assist the clients if they were in a wheelchair. (Vol. 3, at 18).

12. Kilmichael Group Home has 2 houses: a house for the men and a house for the ladies. (Vol. 3, at 18). And Ms. Lott alternated working at the men's house and the ladies' house. (Vol. 3, at 18). She worked 8 hours a day, five days a week. (Vol. 3, at 18-19). She would assist by preparing breakfast and putting on clothes and other personal hygiene tasks, such as brushing teeth. (Vol. 3, at 19). Ms. Lott would also drive a van carrying the clients to their jobs in Louisville, Mississippi. (Vol. 3, at 19). Ms. Lott would have to assist with loading the clients who used a wheelchair. (Vol. 3, at 20).

C. Ms. Lott's Work-Related Injury: 5/15/2003

13. On May 15, 2003, Ms. Lott was working at the men's house. (Vol. 3, at 21). Around 10am or 11am, Ms. Lott was asked by the Director to come to the ladies' house. (Vol. 3, at 21). While at the ladies' house she assisted the clients with lunch. (Vol. 3, at 21). One of the clients was a non-verbal, wheelchair user, who indicated to Ms. Lott that she needed to use the bathroom. (Vol. 3, at 21). Ms. Lott and another lady named Kerry Weeks rolled the client to the bathroom. (Vol. 3, at 21). As Ms. Lott was

4

Ł

attempting to lift the client she heard and felt her right shoulder pop. (Vol. 3, at 21-22). She finished lifting the patient and placed her on the commode. (Vol. 3, at 22). Ms. Lott then sat down and cried a little bit because her shoulder hurt. (Vol. 3, at 22). The episode was very painful. (Vol. 3, at 22). Ms. Lott had never injured her right shoulder before this incident. (Vol. 3, at 22). Ms. Lott reported her injury and completed and signed an accident report on the day of the injury. (Vol. 3, at 22-23); (Claimant Exh. 1).

14. Ms. Lott went home after her shift ended at 2pm. (Vol. 3, at 23). The next day was a scheduled day off for Ms. Lott. (Vol. 3, at 23). Her shoulder was not feeling any better so she went to her family physician, Dr. Katrina Poe. (Vol. 3, at 23). Her physician was not at the office so Ms. Lott saw a nurse practitioner named Sandra Bates. (Vol. 3, at 23-24). Nurse Bates referred Ms. Lott to an orthopedic specialist, Dr. Asa Bennett, in Greenwood, Mississippi. (Vol. 3, at 24).

D. Ms. Lott's Treating Physician: Dr. Asa Bennett

15. Dr. Bennett first saw Ms. Lott on May 22, 2003. (Vol. 3, at 24). Dr. Bennett ordered Ms. Lott to undergo a MRI on her shoulder. (Vol. 3, at 24). After receiving the MRI results, Dr. Bennett advised Ms. Lott it looked like she had a torn rotator cuff, but that he could not tell for certain. (Vol. 3, at 24). Dr. Bennett then ordered Ms. Lott to undergo physical therapy, but the physical therapy did not help Ms. Lott's shoulder. (Vol. 3, at 24-25). Ms. Lott was off work during this period of time. (Vol. 3, at 25).

16. In September 2003, Dr. Bennett recommended that he perform surgery on Ms. Lott's shoulder. (Vol. 3, at 25). Dr. Bennett performed surgery on Ms. Lott's right shoulder on October 6, 2003. (Vol. 3, at 25). Following surgery, Dr. Bennett prescribed a course of physical therapy. (Vol. 3, at 25). The physical therapy helped some, but her

į

shoulder never returned to 100%. (Vol. 3, at 26).

t

Dr. Bennett's evidentiary deposition was conducted on January 13, 2005.
Dr. Bennett testified that Ms. Lott's shoulder injury occurred as a result of lifting the patient while at work on May 15, 2003. (Claimant Exh. 7: Dr. Bennett Dep. 12; Vol. 3, at 3).

 Dr. Bennett testified that he performed surgery on Ms. Lott's right shoulder, where he found and repaired a full-thickness tear to Ms. Lott's rotator cuff. (Claimant Exh. 7: Dr. Bennett Dep. 5-6). The procedure involved re-section or "cutting" of Ms. Lott's shoulder ligament and shaving the acromion bone. (Claimant Exh. 7: Dr. Bennett Dep. 6-7).

19. Dr. Bennett placed Ms. Lott at maximum medical improvement on June 29, 2004. (Claimant Exh. 7: Dr. Bennett Dep. 8; Vol. 3, at 3). Using the 5th Edition of the AMA guides, Dr. Bennett determined that Ms. Lott had sustained a 10% anatomical impairment rating to the upper extremity. (Claimant Exh. 7: Dr. Bennett Dep. 8).

20. Dr. Bennett opined that Ms. Lott suffered a loss in range of motion and strength as a result of her work-related injury. (Claimant Exh. 7: Dr. Bennett Dep. 8-9). Concerning functional limitations, Dr. Bennett advised that Ms. Lott be careful with any significant overhead lifting. (Claimant Exh. 7: Dr. Bennett Dep. 10-11).

21. Dr. Bennett stated he would defer to Kay Cannon's report concerning Ms. Lott's functional abilities. (Claimant Exh. 7: Dr. Bennett Dep. 12). According to Dr. Bennett, he makes general recommendations, whereas a FCE is able to more specifically pinpoint restrictions. (Claimant Exh. 7: Dr. Bennett Dep. 16).

22. Dr. Bennett did not recall any issues with Ms. Lott concerning faking her injury or her pain. (Claimant Exh. 7: Dr. Bennett Dep. 17-18). He did not recall her as

one who was trying to take advantage of the workers' compensation system. (Claimant Exh. 7: Dr. Bennett Dep. 17-18).

E. Ms. Lott's Termination

23. While she was recovering from her shoulder injury, Ms. Lott's employment with the State of Mississippi was terminated. (Vol. 3, at 26-27). She received a letter from John Lipscomb, Director of Hudspeth Regional Center, dated September 29, 2003, which stated her termination was effective September 30, 2003. (Vol. 3, at 27; Claimant Exh. 2; Vol. 3, at 3). Since her termination, Ms. Lott has never been contacted by the State of Mississippi to return to work at the Kilmichael Group Home. (Vol. 3, at 31).

<u>F. Ms. Lott's Post-Injury Job Search: 194 Documented</u> Unsuccessful Attempts To Find Work

24. In March 2004, prior to being placed at maximum medical improvement by Dr. Bennett, Ms. Lott began her search to find another job. (Vol. 3, at 27). Ms. Lott started her job search by going from store to store in Winona. (Vol. 3, at 28). Ms. Lott documented her job search efforts. (Vol. 3, at 28; Claimant Exh. 3). In total, Ms. Lott made 194 unsuccessful job inquiries. (Vol. 3, at 28; Claimant Exh. 3).

25. Of the 194 job inquiries, Ms. Lott only received 1 job offer, which was from Indywood Glen Personal Care Home in Greenwood. (Vol. 3, at 28). When Ms. Lott was told she would have to lift heavy patients, she mentioned her shoulder problem and her recent shoulder surgery. (Vol. 3, at 28-29). She was then told that she would not be hired. (Vol. 3, at 29).

È

ŧ

í.

26. Ms. Lott would get varying responses from employers as she sought work. (Vol. 3, at 29). Some employers simply told Ms. Lott they were not hiring. (Vol. 3, at

29). Some employers would not even let Ms. Lott complete an application. (Vol. 3, at 29). Some employers told Ms. Lott that they were not hiring, but allowed her to leave a resume or complete an application. (Vol. 3, at 29-30). Some employers would not hire Ms. Lott because of her work-related injury. (Vol. 3, at 31, 49). Ms. Lott prepared a resume to let employers know about her job experience. (Vol. 3, at 30).

27. Ms. Lott had some serious discussions with employers. For example, a motel in Winona considered hiring her, but she was denied the job when she went for an interview. (Vol. 3, at 31). The subject of her work-related injury came up in the job interview. (Vol. 3, at 31). Ms. Lott was asked why she had left her last job and she stated because of her job-related injury. (Vol. 3, at 31).

28. Ms. Lott sought work in her hometown of Kilmichael, as well as larger neighboring towns such as Winona, Greenwood, and Grenada. (Claimant Exh. 3). Ms. Lott has looked for work in a 40 mile radius from her home. (Vol. 3, at 49-50). Ms. Lott sought work from the largest employers in her area such as Wal-Mart, Dollar General and McDonalds. (Claimant Exh. 3; General Exh. 9).

29. Ms. Lott specifically sought work at day care centers and from her former employers (Montgomery County School System, Kilmichael Hospital, and North Central Planning and Development). (Vol. 3, at 49, 58, 61). Ms. Lott was told there were no openings at her former employers. (Vol. 3, at 49, 57). Most of her former jobs are no longer in existence and the area in which she lives in economically depressed. (Vol. 3, at 49, 59).

G. Ms. Lott's Contact With Ann Allen

30. Approximately 3 months after she was placed at maximum medical improvement by Dr. Bennett, and approximately 6 months after she had begun her job

ŧ

í

search, Ms. Lott received a letter from Ann Allen, a vocational rehabilitation counselor with F.A. Richards & Assoc., dated September 17, 2004. (Vol. 3, 31; Claimant Exh. 4).

31. In the letter dated September 17, 2004, Ms. Allen advised Ms. Lott about 3 available jobs, none of which were in Ms. Lott's community. (Vol. 3, at 33).

a. The first job was for cashier's position at Zaxby's Restaurant in Starkville. (Vol. 3, at 33). Ms. Lott contacted Zaxby's and her inquiry was greeted with laughter. (Vol. 3, at 33). They wanted to know why she would drive 60 miles one-way for a \$6.00 per hour job. (Vol. 3, at 33). Nevertheless, Ms. Lott then sent Zaxby's a copy of her resume with a stamped, envelope so she could receive and complete a job application, but Zaxby's never sent her a job application. (Vol. 3, at 33).

b. The next job suggested by Ms. Allen was for a production worker position in Durant, Mississippi. (Vol. 3, at 34). Ms. Lott had to go through the job bank/employment service about this job. (Vol. 3, at 34). Ms. Lott recalled that the job bank could not locate the job that Ms. Allen had suggested or it had been filled. (Vol. 3, at 34).

c. The final job suggested by Ms. Allen in her September 17, 2004 letter was for a management trainee's position at Tower Loan Company in Greenwood. (Vol. 3, at 34). Ms. Lott contacted the company and was advised that it required that the person actually live in Greenwood to have this job. (Vol. 3, at 34). Ms. Lott owns her home in Kilmichael and did not want to relocate to Greenwood. (Vol. 3, at 34).

32. Ms. Lott received another letter from Ms. Allen dated October 29, 2004,
which identified 4 job opportunities identified in the letter. (Vol. 3, at 35; Claimant Exh.
4).

٤

a. The first job was for a management trainee's position at a bank. (Vol. 3, at

35). Ms. Lott recalled that this position had been taken by the time she contacted the employment service. (Vol. 3, at 35).

b. The second job was for a metal fabricator's position assembling steel structural metal products. (Vol. 3, at 35). Ms. Lott did not know what a metal fabricator is and has no experience as a metal fabricator. (Vol. 3, at 35).

1

i

É

c. The third job was for a front desk clerk's position at a hotel in Greenwood,
 but when Ms. Lott contacted the hotel she was specifically told that they were not hiring.
 (Vol. 3, at 35).

d. The final position was a manager's position at a check cashing company in Greenwood. (Vol. 3, at 35). Ms. Lott filled out an application, but never received a call from the company. (Vol. 3, at 35).

33. Because the job opportunities identified by Ms. Allen were not working out, Ms. Lott contacted Ms. Allen and gave Ms. Allen her e-mail address to get faster information. (Vol. 3, at 36).

34. On December 2, 2004, Ms. Allen sent an e-mail to Ms. Lott identifying 3 additional job opportunities. (Claimant Exh. 4).

a. The first job was for a cashier's position at Scott Petroleum. (Vol. 3, at
37). Ms. Lott went to Scott Petroleum and was advised that a person had been hired the day before. (Vol. 3, at 37).

b. The second job was a job bank listing for an information/records clerk's position at a prison south of Greenwood. (Vol. 3, at 37). Ms. Lott applied for this job and authorized a background check, but never heard from the prison. (Vol. 3, at 37).

c. The final job was as a job bank listing for a correctional officer's position at the same prison institution. (Vol. 3, at 37). Ms. Lott went to fill out an application, but

was not allowed to do so by the lady who was taking applications. (Vol. 3, at 37). She was told that she was too old for the job and that it was too dangerous for her. (Vol. 3, at 37).

35. Ms. Lott followed up on each job sent to her by Ms. Allen without any success. (Vol. 3, at 38).

36. Ms. Lott also reached out to Ms. Allen on multiple occasions for assistance in finding work. (Vol. 3, at 38).

a. On January 13, 2005, Ms. Lott sent an e-mail to Ms. Allen asking for additional assistance in finding work. (Vol. 3, at 38; Claimant Exh. 4). Ms. Lott did not receive a response to this e-mail from Ms. Allen. (Vol. 3, at 38).

b. On January 18, 2005, Ms. Lott sent another e-mail to Ms. Allen asking for additional assistance in finding work. (Vol. 3, at 38-39; Claimant Exh. 4). Ms. Lott did not receive a response to this e-mail from Ms. Allen and has never heard from Ms. Allen again in any form or fashion. (Vol. 3, at 39).

H. Ms. Lott's Life Since Her Injury

37. Since her injury, Ms. Lott has been relying on her sister for financial support. (Vol. 3, at 39). Her home and her car are paid for. (Vol. 3, at 39). Ms. Lott receives food stamps. (Vol. 3, at 39).

38. Ms. Lott would like to work if she could find a job she could physically perform. (Vol. 3, at 40). Ms. Lott has applied for Social Security Disability Insurance benefits because she needs income. (Vol. 3, at 40).

39. Ms. Lott spends most days at home. (Vol. 3, at 41). During the Summer she helped her daughter by taking care of her 2 grandchildren (ages 7 and 9) 2 or 3 days per week. (Vol. 3, at 41). The children were able to do most things for themselves.

1

i.

ŧ

(Vol. 3, at 41).

ı.

Ł

ί.

i.

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