IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-WC-01525-COA

MARTHA LOTT

APPELLANT

VS.

HUDSPETH CENTER AND MISSISSIPPI STATE AGENCIES WORKERS' COMPENSATION TRUST

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI; CAUSE NO. 2006-0120-CVL

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

W. BIENVILLE SKIPPER - Internet DANIEL COKER HORTON AND BELL, P.A. 4400 OLD CANTON ROAD, SUITE 400 POST OFFICE BOX 1084 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39215-1084 (601) 969-7607 Attorney for Appellees

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-WC-01525-COA

MARTHA LOTT

APPELLANT/CLAIMANT

VS.

HUDSPETH CENTER ANDMISSISSIPPI STATE AGENCIESWORKERS' COMPENSATION TRUSTAPPELLEES/EMPLOYER AND CARRIER

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The employer and carrier request the Circuit Court's order be affirmed, as the Commission's decision is supported by substantial evidence. The Commission, whose Order is the only one subject to scrutiny in a workers' compensation appeal, received and reviewed all the evidence and gave the appropriate weight to the testimony and to each admitted exhibit. Lott seeks to have this Court give different weight to the testimony and evidence, but, as this Court is well aware, an appeals court cannot re-weigh the evidence and render its own opinion of the testimony. Under the law, deference is given to the Commission, which issued its decision after its own independent review of the evidence. Even if the Order of the Full Commission is not the opinion this Court would have rendered, the fact that the Commission's Order is supported by evidence in the record necessitates it again be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. The Applicable Standard of Review Supports the Commission's Decision.

Time and time again, the Mississippi Supreme Court has reiterated the narrow and limited standard of review in workers' compensation appeals:

The Workers' Compensation Commission is the trier and finder of facts in a compensation claim, the findings of the Administrative Law Judge to the contrary notwithstanding.

[An appellate court may] reverse the Commission's order only if it finds that order clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

Smith v. Container General Corp., 559 So.2d 1019, 1021 (Miss. 1990) (quoting Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co., 523 So.2d 314, 317 (Miss. 1988)). Thus, despite Lott's repeated reference to the findings of the AJ, it is the Commission's decision with which this Court must concern itself, and, as is well-settled, "[t]he Commission is the finder of facts. And if those facts are based on substantial evidence [an appellate court lacks] the power to disturb them, even though that evidence would not convince [the court] were [it] the fact finders." Olen Burrage Trucking Co. v. Chandler, 475 So.2d 437, 439 (Miss. 1985). See also Scarborough v. Miss. Dept. Of Trans. Hwy. Dept., 764 So.2d 488 (Miss.App. 2000).

Thus, the findings of the Commission are binding so long as they are supported by substantial evidence. *Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co.*, 523 So.2d 314, 317 (Miss.1988). Unless prejudicial error is found or the Commission's decision is found to have been against the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence, the Commission's order <u>shall</u> be affirmed. *Strickland v. M.H. McMath Gin, Inc.*, 457 So.2d 925, 928 (Miss. 1984). See also *KLLM, Inc. v. Fowler*, 589 So.2d 670 (Miss. 1991). The scope of review of an appellate court is, therefore, limited to a determination of whether the Commission's decision is supported by substantial

evidence. If so, the decision of the Full Commission must be upheld. *Delta CMI v. Speck*, 586 So.2d 768, 772-73 (Miss. 1991); *Walker Mfg. Co. v. Cantrell*, 577 So.2d 1243, 1247 (Miss. 1991).

As stated, by the court in Delta CMI v. Speck, 586 So.2d 768, 772-73 (Miss.1991):

The substantial evidence rule serves as the basis for appellate review of the commission's order. Indeed, the substantial evidence rule in workers' compensation cases is well established in our law. Substantial evidence, though not easily defined, means something more than a "mere scintilla" of evidence, and that it does not rise to the level of "a preponderance of the evidence." It may be said that it "means such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Substantial evidence means evidence which is substantial, that is, affording a substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be reasonably inferred.

See also Page v. Zurich American Ins. Co. of Illinois, 825 So.2d 721 (Miss.App. 2002); Toldson v. Anderson-Tully Co., 724 So.2d 399 (Miss. App. 1998).

Simply stated, in workers' compensation cases, the Commission is the ultimate finder of fact. *Natchez Equip. Co. v. Gibbs*, 623 So.2d 270, 273 (Miss. 1993); *R.C. Petroleum, Inc. v. Hernandez*, 555 So.2d 1017, 1021 (Miss. 1990). The appellate court is not permitted to re-weigh the evidence to determine where the preponderance of the evidence lies. *Lanterman v. Roadway Exp., Inc.*, 608 So.2d 1340 (Miss.1992). Therefore, the decision of the Commission should only be overturned for an unsupportable finding of fact showing the Commission acted arbitrarily and capriciously. If the record contains substantial evidence upon which the Commission could base its decision, it's decision must be affirmed. In this, such evidence clearly exists.

II. <u>Substantial Evidence Supports the Commission Decision</u>

The sole inquiry on appeal is whether substantial evidence supports the Commission decision. If so, then the Circuit Court's affirmance of the Commission's Order is due to be

upheld. Here, the Commission, sitting as the statutory trier of fact, found Lott entitled to 100% industrial loss of use of her right arm – a 90% increase of the anatomical impairment rating assigned by her treating physician – but did not find she is permanently totally disabled, based on its appraisal of the totality of the evidence.

Specifically, the Commission found the following facts provided substantial evidence to support its findings:

- Dr. Asa Bennett, Lott's treating orthopaedic surgeon, placed her at maximum medical improvement from her injury and released her <u>without any work</u> restrictions and only a 10% partial impairment to her affected right arm. (A.R.E 4).
- After her release by Dr. Bennett, Lott underwent an FCE ordered by her attorney, not her doctor. (A.R.E. 5). The FCE was not conducted by facility to which Dr. Bennett refers his patients. (A.R.E 4).
- The FCE therapist, Ms. Cannon, opined that Lott's performance on this first test demonstrated she could tolerate work at the sedentary to light demand level. (A.R.E. 5). However, the results of the FCE were limited by Lott's "very poor body mechanics" and self-limiting pain behaviors. *Id.*
- The FCE performed by Ms. Cannon did <u>not</u> correlate Lott's abilities with her job duties at the time of her injury. *Id.* In fact, Ms. Cannon did not even have the Lott's pre-injury job description to evaluate. *Id.*
- After her release by Dr. Bennett, Lott underwent additional physical therapy and reconditioning ordered by Dr. David Collipp. (A.R.E. 6, 7). After completing

physical therapy, the she underwent a second FCE on June 7, 2005, ordered by Dr. Collipp of Southern Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. *Id.* Southern Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation is a clinic to which Dr. Bennett refers patients for FCE testing. (A.R.E. 4).

- The June 7, 2005, FCE found Lott able to work in the <u>medium duty</u> category, with a sixty pound maximum lifting limit. (A.R.E. 7). Unlike the FCE ordered by the Lott's attorney, Dr. Collipp's FCE evaluated Lott's physical abilities and compared them with her pre-injury job duties. *Id.* Lott demonstrated the ability to perform <u>all</u> aspects of her prior job, with the sole exception that she could no longer lift 100 pounds. *Id.*
- At trial, Lott testified she had previously worked for 16 years as a teacher's assistant. She even admitted that she could still perform her former job, except for the lifting required. (A.R.E. 2). She testified that she had applied for jobs with 194 businesses, but conceded that most places she applied were not hiring anyone, at all. (A.R.E. 1) On one application Lott submitted to Wal-Mart, she limited her availability to only 7:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m., a restriction no doctor had imposed on her. (A.R.E. 8). Despite her 16 years of experience as a teacher's assistant, Lott did not apply for such jobs. (A.R.E. 1)
- David Stewart was hired by the Lott. (A.R.E. 1). He testified that he had issued a report stating Lott had lost access to the job market as a result of her injury, but had <u>not</u> been requested to assist Lott find work. (A.R.E. 3). He testified he had been provided the first FCE test ordered by the claimant's attorney and had used

it as the basis for his opinions. *Id.* Once he considered more recent FCE ordered by Dr. Collipp, though, Mr. Stewart testified that there would be many more jobs Lott was capable of performing. *Id.* He testified that the unemployment rate in the Lott's county of residence is higher than the state average and Lott's inability to find work was limited as much by the local economy as by her injury. (*Id.*, A.R.E. 1).

As set forth in the Commission's decision, the determination that Lott was not permanently totally disabled was made after careful consideration of the evidence as a whole. Upon weighing the evidence, including the testimony and all medical proof, the Commission concluded that Lott was entitled to 100% loss of use to the arm, but not to permanent total disability. That fact-finding should be affirmed, as it is within the Commission's discretion.

A. <u>Medical Evidence Supports the Commission Decision</u>.

In reaching its decision, it is clear that the Commission placed greater weight on Dr. Bennett's testimony and Dr. Collipp's more recent FCE evaluation than it did on Lott's purported job search effort and the FCE ordered by her attorney. It is that allocation of weight Lott seeks to have this Court reverse. However, the Commission is the arbiter of the weight of the evidence and since the proof supports the Commission finding, the Commission decision is due to be affirmed.

The medical records of Dr. Bennett demonstrate Lott was released without any work restrictions, at all, and that Dr. Bennett felt her condition would actually <u>improve</u> over time. The Commission properly assigned the later FCE ordered by Dr. Collipp greater weight than the earlier one solicited by Lott's attorney, since Dr. Collipp's FCE was the only one directed by a

physician, performed by a facility recommended by Dr. Bennett, and was the most up-to-date evaluation of Lott's functional ability – which coincides with Dr. Bennett's testimony that he would expect Lott to improve over time. In addition to being the most current evaluation of Lott's abilities, Dr. Collipp's FCE, unlike the first FCE, actually evaluated Lott's ability to return to her pre-injury employment. In comparing her abilities, the FCE determined that the <u>only</u> functional deficit Lott suffers as a result of her injury is that she can only lift 60 pounds, as opposed to 100 pounds. This evidence alone, provides substantial medical evidence from which the Commission could properly determine Lott was not permanently totally disabled by virtue of her torn rotator cuff.

As the Mississippi Court of Appeals has recently reiterated, if medical evidence in the record – even if only from one doctor – supports the Commission determination, the Commission's decision should be affirmed. See *Union Camp Corp. v. Hall*, 955 So. 2d 363, 368 (Miss. 2006) ("we are only called upon to resolve whether a quantum of credible evidence supports the Commission's decision . . . we may not resolve conflicts in the evidence based on our mandated presumption that the trier of fact, the Commission, resolved all such conflicts.") (citation omitted). In this case, the medical records from Dr. Bennett and Dr. Collipp support the Commission's decision. As such, the Commission decision is due to be affirmed.

B. <u>Other Evidence Supports the Commission Decision</u>

In her brief to this Court, Lott highlights all evidence in the record supporting her claim of permanently totally disability, but seemingly labels the Commission's consideration of all evidence contrary to that position as "errors". Fortunately, all this Court must consider is whether evidence in the record exists to support the Commission's finding. If so, then the Commission

- 12 -

should be affirmed.

Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-17(c) (1) limits benefits for an injury to an arm to a maximum of 200 weeks of compensation benefits. In order for benefits for a scheduled member injury to exceed the guidelines of §71-3-17(c), the proof, both lay and medical, must be such that the Commission is convinced a claimant's injury renders him totally incapable of ever earning wages again. See *McDonald v. I. C. Isaacs Newton Co.*, 879 So. 2d 486, 491 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). The inability of the claimant to secure other employment, however, must be "due to the injury in question." *Georgia Pacific Corp. v. Taplin*, 586 So. 2d 823, 828 (Miss. 1991). Thus the Commission is entitled to consider not only a claimant's physical abilities, but also whether other factors influence the availability of employment, whether due to the injury at work, or not. By weighing all the relevant factors, the Commission then – in its role as fact-finder – determines whether an injury is such that it should exceed the schedule of the Workers' Compensation Act.

The Commission's decision in this case reflects that it carefully weighed the evidence and the medical testimony in making its decision. Unlike what Lott would have this Court decide, the Commission was inclined to give greater weight to the fact that Lott retains significant functional abilities despite her injury. It also gave weight to the fact that the unemployment rate in her area is higher than the state average, concluding that part of her unsuccessful job search was due to factors other than her injury (as Mr. Stewart, Lott's own expert, agreed). As noted by the Commission, Mr. Stewart, the claimant's own vocational expert, testified that the Ms. Lott would have many more jobs available to her according to the most recent FCE by Dr. Collipp and that the economic conditions in her area influence her employability as much as her injury. Clearly, evidence exists in the record to support the Commission decision. That being so, the standard of review dictates that the Commission decision be affirmed.

C. Lott Challenges the Commission's Determination of Facts

Lott couches her brief to this Court in terms of errors of law, in hopes the Court will go behind the fact-finding of the Commission. Lott's assignments of error on appeal, however, merely challenge the Commission's determination of the facts. As this Court has repeatedly recognized, the Commission is the statutory fact finder and is entitled to weigh the evidence and determine the facts according to its own judgment. It did so in this case, and in so doing awarded Lott 90% greater industrial loss to her arm than her doctor had. It did not, however, act arbitrarily or misconstrue controlling law as Lott alleges.

In her brief to this Court, Lott asserts – "as a matter of law" – that the Commission "ignored Mississippi Supreme Court precedent that provides that an injured workers' retention of some functional capacity to perform jobs does not compel the conclusion that she is not permanently and totally disabled . . ." In this, Lott's statement is correct, but her implied argument is wrong. Retention of vocational ability does not <u>compel</u> any conclusion by the Commission. It is simply one factor the Commission may weigh in making its determination as to the extent of disability sustained as a result of a work injury. Lott's error is not in her statement, but in its implied converse. Whereas retention of vocational ability does not compel a conclusion a claimant is <u>not</u> permanently totally disabled, neither does it compel the opposite conclusion that a worker <u>is</u> so disabled. In fact, such evidence, in and of itself, creates no presumption at all. Lott's functional abilities, work history and education are simply factors to be considered by the Commission. As with the medical proof, all are relevant to the issue of permanent disability, but none are dispositive. Once again, the Commission, as it did in this case, weighs all of the evidence to reach its decision. Just because the Commission did not award Lott as much as she wanted does not mean it erred as a matter of law.

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